IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JOHN CARDEGNA, and DONNA REUTER on behalf of themselves and those similarly situated,

Appellants,

v.

BUCKEYE CHECK CASHING, INC., et al.,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CASE NO. SC02-2161

Lower Tribunal No.: 4D01-3549

E. Clayton Yates
Florida Bar No.: 0398720
Law Office of E. Clayton Yates, P.A.
205 South Second Street
Fort Pierce, Florida 34950
Telephone (772) 465-7990
Facsimile (772) 465-1886

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This appeal brings for review the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion holding that an arbitration provision is enforceable even when a party alleges and presents colorable evidence that the contract containing the arbitration provision is illegal, which reversed the trial court's order denying the appellees' motion to compel arbitration. As set out in Appellants' jurisdictional brief, this holding conflicts with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in *FastFunding v*. *Betts*, 827 So.2d 294 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

This action was brought by Appellants Cardegna and Reuter ("Plaintiffs") on behalf of a class of Florida consumers (collectively "Customers") against Appellees, Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. ("Buckeye of Ohio") and Buckeye Check Cashing of Florida Inc. ("Buckeye of Florida") and unknown entities and individuals (collectively "Appellees" or "Buckeye"). The Plaintiffs allege an unlawful scheme in which Buckeye, under the guise of what it falsely portrayed as a check cashing service, in reality charged and collected unconscionably usurious interest to thousands of customers for consumer loans through systematically repeated violations of Florida's Lending Practices Act, Chapter 687, Florida Statutes; Florida's Consumer Finance Act, Chapter 516, Florida Statutes; Florida's Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, Chapter 501, Consumer Protection, Part II, Florida Statutes; and Florida's Civil Remedies for Criminal Practices Act, Chapter 772, Florida Statutes. R. Vol. I, #9, pages 1-3.

2

Plaintiffs alleged that Buckeye loaned money to consumers in exchange for a written document in the form of a personal check, and an agreement to repay money in an amount larger than the borrower received within a short period of time, usually two to four weeks. These loans were then continued through loan extensions or roll-over transactions. R. Vol. I, #9, pages 1-11.

In each transaction, the Plaintiffs gave Buckeye a personal check and agreed that the face value of the check would be paid within a short time period, usually two weeks. In exchange Buckeye gave the Plaintiffs cash in an amount less than the face value of the "check." In each transaction, Buckeye agreed to hold the check until the next payday or until the customer received their next social security or other government check. R. Vol. I, #9, pages 1-3; R. Vol. I, #9, pages 25-63; R. Vol. I, #9, pages 133-134.

Customers unable to repay these loans when due were permitted to extend or roll-over their loans with Buckeye by paying "service fees" when they became due, usually every two weeks. In each transaction, once the Plaintiffs paid the "fee" to Buckeye, then Buckeye would again forbear collection of the debt. R. Vol. I, #9, pages 1-3; R. Vol. I, #9, pages 25-63; R. Vol. I, #9, pages 133-134. The "fee" on each extension was interest for allowing Plaintiffs and members of the class to defer payment on the original extension of credit. R. Vol. I, #9, pages 1-3; R. Vol. I, #9, pages 25-63. The rate of interest charged by Buckeye, ranged from approximately 137% to 1,317% A.P.R., with the rate usually over 300% A.P.R. R. Vol. I, #9, pages 25-63.

3

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Well settled Florida usury jurisprudence, and established principles of Florida contract law, indicate that this Court should find that the payday loan agreements including the arbitration provisions are unenforceable because the agreement between the parties was on its face an illegal contract due to the feloniously criminal usurious rates charged by Buckeye. Because illegal contracts are void *ab initio* under Florida law, no provisions of the payday loan agreements are enforceable, including the arbitration clause.

To address the public policy and criminal illegality issues and effectively resolve a matter of pressing importance for the many thousands of Florida consumers who will be affected by this case, the Court must look at the sum and substance of the transactions between Plaintiffs and Buckeye, as evidenced by the written agreements which documented each transaction. In making this determination it will also be necessary to decide whether Florida Statute Chapter 560 authorized "payday loans" or "deferred deposit transactions" prior to the effective date of F.S. §§ 560.401- 408, the "Deferred Presentment Act". This Court has plenary jurisdiction to do so. Once this Court has jurisdiction over a matter "it may, at its discretion, consider any issue affecting the case." *Cantor v. Davis*, 489 So.2d 18, 20 (Fla. 1986).

4

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case poses the question whether a contract is illegal and therefore void, and as a pure issue of law this question is to be reviewed *de novo*.

ARGUMENT

I. BUCKEYE'S DEFERRED DEPOSIT TRANSACTIONS WERE ILLEGAL USURIOUS LOANS CRIMINAL IN NATURE UNDER FLORIDA LAW.

For more than a century, the Florida Legislature has recognized the need to protect the public from usurious schemes. § 687.04, Fla. Stat. (2001). The primary purpose of Florida usury law is to bind the power of creditors over necessitous debtors and prevent them from extorting harsh and undue terms in the making of loans." *See Dixon v. Sharp*, 276 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 1973), *quoting Chandler v. Kendrick*, 146 So. 2d, 551, 552 (Fla. 1933). Through the enactment of Florida's usury laws, the legislature has clearly expressed its intention to prevent and unveil these usurious transactions that are masked by whatever form. *See Gilbert v. Doris R. Corp.*, 111 So. 2d 682, 684-85 (Fla. 3d DCA 1959). In the

instant case, Buckeye has tried to conceal the usurious nature of its money-lending transactions under the pretext of check cashing.

Buckeye's money-lending transactions violate the usury laws set forth in Florida Statutes, Chapter 687, Florida's Lending Practices Act" and Chapter 516,

Florida's Consumer Finance Act." Florida Statute section 516.02(1) provides that a lender must be licensed by the Department of Banking and Finance to make consumer loans,¹ and section 516.02(2) provides that an unlicensed lender may not charge an interest rate in excess of 18% per year. Loans made at a higher interest rate are not enforceable.² Section 516.031(3) provides that any charges, including interest in excess of the combined total authorized by Chapter 516, constitute a violation of Chapter 687, which sets allowable rates of interest and defines usury:

¹ When the legislature intended to exclude certain loans from Chapter 516, such exclusions were specifically identified: "This Chapter does not apply to any person who does business under, and as permitted by, any law of this state or of the United States relating to banks, savings banks, trust companies, building and loan associations, credit unions, or industrial loan and investment companies. This chapter also does not apply to title loans as defined in § 538.03(1) (I) or pawns as defined in § 538.03(1)(d)." F.S. § 516.02(4), Fla. Stat. (2001).

² Although one *licensed* as a consumer finance lender pursuant to Chapter 516 may charge up to 30 percent per annum on the first \$1,000 of the principal amount, 24 percent per annum on the principal amount exceeding \$1000 and not exceeding \$2000, and 18 percent per annum on that part of the principal amount exceeding \$2,000 and not exceeding \$25,000. § 516.301, Fla. Stat. (2001).

It shall be usury and unlawful for any person ... to reserve, charge, or take for any loan, advance of money, line of credit, forbearance to enforce the collection of any sum of money, or other obligation a rate of interest greater than the equivalent of 18% per annum simple interest, either directly or indirectly, by way of commission for advances, discounts, or exchange, or by any contract, contrivance, or device, whatever, whereby the debtor is required or obligated to pay a sum of money greater than the actual principal sum received, together with interest at the rate of the equivalent of 18% per annum simple interest.

§ 687.03(1), Fla. Stat. (2001).

Section 687.02 defines a usurious contract" as all contracts for the payment of interest upon any loan, advance of money, line of credit, or forbearance to enforce the collection of any debt, or upon any obligation whatever, at a higher rate of interest than the equivalent of 18% per annum simple interest." § 687.02, Fla. Stat. (2001). Here, Buckeye's loan, advance of money, line of credit, or forbearance to enforce" by written agreement to defer the presentment of Plaintiffs' checks, with interest rates in excess of 137%, satisfy the definition of a usurious contract.

A review of the "Deferred Deposit and Disclosure Agreements" between Plaintiffs and Buckeye quickly reveals it was something more than just an agreement to cash a check. R. Vol. I, #9, pages 25-63. For example, a look at Appellant Donna Reuter's transaction with Buckeye on August 4, 2000 is enlightening. R. Vol. I, #9, page 58. This form agreement sets out an "Itemization

of Amount Financed" including:

Actual Cash You Receive: \$400.00"; "Total Finance Charge: \$49.44"; "Total Note Amount: \$449.44"; "Annual Percentage Rate: 332.24%"; "Finance Charge: \$49.44"; "Amount Financed: \$400.00" and "Total Of Payments: \$449.44.

R. Vol. I, #9, page 58.

The document then specifies details of the customer's obligations in words

and phrases descriptive of loans:

Payment Schedule: One payment in the amount of \$449.44 due on 8/18. *Id.*

Promise To Pay: You promise to pay the Deferred Deposit (total of payments, plus any other permitted charge) to the order of Check\$mart according to the terms stated herein. *Id*.

Refund for Payment: If, after the first month of the contract, the Deferred Deposit is paid in full before the final installment payment date, any unearned interest for the unexpired period of the Deferred Deposit contract that follows the date of payment in full will be refunded according to the sum of the digits method sometimes called the 'Rule of 78ths,' according to applicable law. *Id*.

The contract goes on to define Finance Charges:

Finance Charge: The Finance Charge consists of interest and fee only. If interest on this Deferred Deposit is not precomputed, the Finance Charge is computed on outstanding unpaid principle balances on the basis that installments shall have been paid according to the contract. Delinquency will increase the Finance Charge as the contract rate is computed on actual unpaid balances on the amount financed for the actual time outstanding. *Id*.

and then clarifies the customer's options on prepayment of the loan amount:

Prepayment: You may repay this contract in full at any time. However you agree to pay a minimum charge of _____ as allowed by Florida law, if you pay this contract off before Check\$mart has earned that much in finance charges within the first month. *Id*.

Of course, the contract follows up by prominently and officiously stating just

above the line for the "Borrower's signature":

THE FEE CHARGE FOR A DEFERRED DEPOSIT TRANSACTION IS A SERVICE FEE AND NOT INTEREST. THIS DISCLOSURE IS PROVIDED TO YOU PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL TRUTH IN LENDING ACT, 15 USC 1601 ET SEQ, ... THE SERVICE FEES CHARGED FOR THE DEFERRED DEPOSIT TRANSACTION ARE INCLUDED IN THE CALCULATION OF AN ANNUAL PERCENTAGE RATE. THIS DOCUMENT IS FOR DISCLOSURE PURPOSES ONLY AND DOES NOT AFFECT THE CHARACTER OF THE FEES UNDER FLORIDA LAW."*Id.* ³

Confoundingly, the contract then provides the following caveat to the

financially desperate customer whom it has it has just instructed is not paying

interest on a loan but is merely paying a "service fee" for cashing a check:

WARNING: THE RATE OF INTEREST CHARGED ON THIS DEFERRED DEPOSIT AGREEMENT IS HIGHER THAN THE AVERAGE RATE OF INTEREST CHARGED BY FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS ON SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR LOANS *Id*.

³ Compare THE WIZARD OF OZ (Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer 1939), (scene, the Wizard's great throne room: The Wizard [attempting to cover up with the curtain]: "The Great Oz has spoken. **Pay no attention to that man behind the curtain...the Great... er... Oz has spoken.**")

The contract then has a checklist for Buckeye's "Customer Service

Representative" to fill out. Most pertinent to this analysis are the following items:

Does the customer have a prior loan? Verify that the prior loan has been paid (check has cleared).

Verify that the check is written for the total amount of the loan. Verify that the weekly income shown above is not less than the total amount of the loan. *Id*.

What is clear from evaluating Buckeye's form "Deferred Deposit" agreements is that the essence of the transaction is loaning money at highly usurious rates of interest and that the contracts were criminal on their face. The policy of the State of Florida to protect its needy citizens from predatory lenders is set out in Chapter 687 of the Florida Statutes, which provides felony sanctions for such lending practices. The threshold for criminal usury is 25% A.P.R. at which point it is a first degree misdemeanor, § 687.071(2), Fla. Stat.(2001) . When loaning money at an interest rate in excess of 45% A.P.R. the conduct becomes a third degree felony, § 687.071(3), Fla. Stat.(2001). Loaning money at either the misdemeanor or felony levels of usury is defined as "loan sharking or shylocking," § 687.071(1)(f), Fla. Stat.(2001).

The agreements at issue here set forth the lending of money at interest rates approximately two and a half to twenty-nine times the felony threshold! R. Vol. I,

#9, pages 25 -63. The written agreement(s) containing the arbitration provision are

in themselves criminal contraband:

Books of account or other documents recording extensions of credit in violation of subsections (3) or (4) are declared to be contraband and any person, other than a public officer in the performance of his or her duty, and other than the person charged such usurious interest and person acting on his or her behalf, who shall knowingly and willingly possess or maintain such books of account or other documents, or conspire to do so shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree.

§ 687.071(5), Fla. Stat.(2001).

A. <u>The transactions at issue fit squarely within the definition of usury.</u>

Florida courts have defined the elements of usury through case law. See

Dixon v. Sharp, 276 So. 2d 817, 819 (Fla. 1973); Antonelli v. Newman, 537 So.

2d 1027, 1028 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Rollins v. Odom, 519 So. 2d 652, 657 (Fla.

1st DCA 1988). Four elements define a transaction as usurious: 1) a loan,

expressed or implied; 2) an understanding between the parties that the money lent shall be returned; 3) interest charged at a rate greater than that allowed by law; and 4) corrupt intent to take more than the legal rate. *Id*.

A loan is defined as delivery by one party to and receipt by another party of a sum of money upon agreement, express or implied, to repay it with or without interest." Black's Law Dictionary, (6th Edition, 1990). Buckeye's payday loans, as evidenced by the deferred deposit agreements, as well as their rollovers accomplished through the extension of the original loan, fall within the definition of a loan. The Plaintiffs' agreement to repay the borrowed money to Buckeye represents an understanding between the parties that the money lent shall be returned" and thus satisfies the second prong of the test. *Dixon*, 276 So. 2d at 819.

The third element, a charge of an interest rate greater than that allowed by law, has also been satisfied. Florida Statute section 516.01(4) defines interest" as the cost of obtaining a consumer finance loan that includes any profit advantage of any kind whatsoever that the lender may charge, contract for, collect, receive or in any way obtain." Buckeye loaned money to the Plaintiffs at interest rates ranging upward of 137% annually. The maximum interest rate under Florida law is 18%. § 516.02(2), Fla. Stat. (2001); § 687.03(1), Fla. Stat. (2001). The interest rates charged by Buckeye are at least 6 times more than the statutory ceiling.

The third element of usury is also satisfied because the fees" charged by the Buckeye constitute interest under Florida law. In determining whether the amount charged by a defendant is a fee or interest, a court should disregard the form of the agreement and consider the substance of the transaction." *Antonelli v*.

Newman, 537 So. 2d 1027, 1029 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). First, as to the agreements between Plaintiffs and Buckeye, the plain language of the agreements drafted by Buckeye make clear that the customer is paying a fee in return for Buckeye's agreement to wait a period of time for repayment of the amount advanced. R. Vol. I, #9, pages 25-63.

Finally, the fourth element of the usurious contract, corrupt intent," is also satisfied. The lendor's testimony that he did not have an intent to charge and to receive interest in excess of the legal rate is not determinative of the question." *Rollins v. Odom*, 519 So. 2d 652, 657 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). Rather, the element of corrupt intent is established when the lendor consciously intends and does in fact make charges which result in usury." *Id.* at 658. When a lender, such as Buckeye here, has intentionally and purposely done that which amounts to or results in a contract for or the exaction of usurious interest, an argument by the lender that it was not shown the lender intended to violate the usury statute is without merit." *Id.*

B. <u>Courts must look at the substance of the transactions rather</u> <u>than the form employed by a usurious lender in an effort to avoid the</u> <u>prohibition against usurious loans.</u> When one analyzes the substance of these transactions rather than the form, as is required under Florida law, it is clear that all of the transactions engaged in between the Plaintiffs and Buckeye constituted usurious loans. *See Beacham v. Carr*, 166 So. 2d 456, 459 (Fla. 1936); *Antonelli*, 537 So. 2d at 1029; *Maye v. United States Leasing Corp.*, 239 So. 2d 73, 75 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970); *Kay v. Amendola*, 129 So. 2d 170, 173-74 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). This Court long ago recognized that usurious lenders will endeavor to employ any number of contrivances in order to give the appearance that their usurious loans are something else:

The cupidity of lenders, and the willingness of borrowers to concede whatever may be demanded or to promise whatever may be exacted in order to obtain temporary relief from financial embarrassment, as would naturally be expected, have resulted in a great variety of

devices to evade the usury laws; and to frustrate such evasions, the courts have been compelled to look beyond the form of the transaction to its substance, and they have laid it down as an inflexible rule that the mere form is immaterial, but that it is the substance that must be considered.

Beacham, 166 So. 2d 456, 459 (Fla. 1936). Buckeye should not be permitted to

characterize these transactions as a series of isolated, authorized check cashing

transactions, when in fact the transactions viewed as a whole demonstrate that the

Plaintiffs paid extremely usurious interest for the privilege of the use of Buckeye's

money for a short period of time.

1. <u>Characterizing a usurious loan as a "sale" does not preclude</u> <u>application of the laws against usury.</u>

As set out in more detail in Section II of this brief, Buckeye's attempts to cloak payday loans as authorized sales of currency pursuant to Chapter 560 should be flatly rejected. Florida courts have routinely and repeatedly concluded that transactions disguised as sales" were in fact loans subject to the state usury laws. *See C.E.G. Griffin v. Kelly*, 92 So. 2d 515, 518-19 (Fla. 1957) (reversing trial court's dismissal of usury claim structured as the sale of an option); *Kay v. Amendola*, 129 So. 2d 170, 172-73 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961) (our usury statutes show a clear legislative intent to prevent accomplishment of a usurious scheme by indirection, in the concealment of the needle of usury in a haystack of the subterfuge will not avail to prevent its pricking the body of the law into action"); *Brown v. Home Credit Co.*, 137 So. 2d 887, 891 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962) (finding that lender intended to disguise a usurious loan as a sale).

2. <u>The "fees" charged by Buckeye are interest.</u>

Further, courts have demonstrated that they will not simply accept a lender's characterization of interest as a fee." *See Speier v. Monnah Park Block Company*, 84 So. 2d 697, 697-99 (Fla. 1955) (holding that mortgage brokers fee should be included as interest); *Williamson v. Clark*, 120 So. 2d 637, 638 (Fla. 2d DCA 1960) (affirming lower court finding that alleged inspection fee" was a mere cloak for the extraction of illegal interest"). Given the fact that Buckeye's own form

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