IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN A. CARDEGNA, et al.,

Petitioners,

Supreme Court Case No.:
SC02-2161

V.

BUCKEYE CHECK CASHING, INC., et al.,

Respondent.

Market Petitioners,

Supreme Court Case No.:
SC02-2161

Fourth DCA Case No.:
4D01-3549

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT BUCKEYE CHECK CASHING, INC.

On Review from the Fourth District Court of Appeal

Amy L. Brown *pro hac vice*James P. Wehner *pro hac vice*Pierre H. Bergeron *pro hac vice*(pending)
SQUIRE, SANDERS & DEMPSEY L.L.P.

1201 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. P.O. Box 407

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

2. This Case Involves Federal Law

Petitioners go to great lengths to convince this Court that this case involves a question of Florida contract law, devoting pages in their brief to a discussion of

_

³ Alabama's continued reliance on this flawed conceptualization of *Prima Paint*, *see Community Care of America of Ala., Inc. v. Davis*, __ So. 2d __, 2002 WL 31045217 (Ala. 2002), does not enhance the persuasive value of the rule, as Petitioners seem to believe. Indeed, it simply indicates that Alabama is comfortable being a minority of one.

Florida case law on void and voidable contracts. This narrative, however, is irrelevant. Petitioners have never disputed that the FAA applies in this case, and the Fourth District correctly found that "federal law controls because the arbitration agreement expressly provides that 'this arbitration Agreement is made pursuant to a transaction involving interstate commerce, and shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act. . .'" *Buckeye*, 824 So. 2d at 230; *see also Jensen v. Rice*, 809 So. 2d 895, 899 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) (recognizing that based on Supremacy Clause principles, "Florida courts must enforce arbitration agreements that are valid and enforceable under the Federal Arbitration Act, even where. . . the arbitration agreement would not be enforceable under Florida law"); *Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner & Smith, Inc. v. Sheen*, 405 So. 2d 790, 793 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) ("[W]e hold that the Federal Arbitration Act is a national substantive law that supplants inconsistent state laws and that Florida courts are bound by the Act.").4 For that reason, Florida courts routinely turn to federal authority for guidance in interpreting

_

⁴ Although the Eleventh Circuit in *Goodman* was applying the FAA, it recognized that "the result is the same" under the Florida Arbitration Code. *Goodman*, 321 F.3d at 1097; *see also Post Tensioned Eng'g Corp. v. Fairways Plaza Assocs.*, 412 So. 2d 871 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) ("[T]he role of the court in deciding, ab initio, whether arbitration may be compelled is limited to determining whether an enforceable arbitration clause exists."). Therefore, even if the Court turned to Florida state law, the end result would not differ. Petitioners' claim that *Bess* "is counter to Florida's generally applicable contract law," (Pet. Br. at 37), accordingly rings hollow.

the FAA, see, e.g., Computer Task Group, Inc. v. Palm Beach County, 782 So. 2d 942, 943 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), and they even borrow federal interpretations for application to Florida Arbitration Code. See Ronbeck, 592 So. 2d at 346. In fact, Petitioners seem to acknowledge this point by their reliance on federal authority to support their reading of *Prima Paint*. (Pet. Br. at 35-38).

Florida law, however, does not inform the threshold discussion of whether an arbitrator or a judge determines the arbitrability question. While Petitioners point to section 2 of the FAA as the basis for incorporating state law (Pet. Br. at 39), they overlook the fact that section 2 only applies to the arbitration provision itself. See National R.R., 892 F.2d at 1070 (recognizing that "the presence of a public policy issue that may preclude enforcement of the contract" does not fall "within the meaning of § 2"). Petitioners' challenge, on the other hand, goes to the underlying Contracts, which triggers the Prima Paint rule. Prima Paint directs that courts "consider only issues relating to the making and performance of the agreement to arbitrate." Prima Paint, 388 U.S. at 404. Petitioners nevertheless attempt to shoehorn the entire body of Florida void-voidable law through the narrow window of Prima Paint. Wielding state law challenges to the entire contract (as opposed to the arbitration clause itself) as a means for avoiding arbitration would carve an exception so wide to Prima Paint that it could ultimately

swallow the rule.

E. The Fourth District Properly Applied the FAA

The Fourth District in the matter below correctly followed *Bess* in holding that void *ab initio* allegations could not defeat arbitration. Although Petitioners pointed to *Chastain*, the court recognized that *Chastain* involved a situation in which one party claimed that she had not signed the agreement at issue. *Buckeye*, 824 So. 2d at 230-31. Likewise, the court understood that any consideration of *Chastain* had to be informed by the Eleventh Circuit's subsequent decision in *Bess*, which squarely rejected the exact proposition of law advanced by Petitioners. *Id*.

The Fourth District also distinguished *Party Yards* based on the fact that the Fifth District limited its decision to situations in which "the language in the arbitration provision of the contract is not broad enough to encompass a usury violation." *Party Yards*, 751 So. 2d at 123. By contrast, the language of the arbitration provisions in the Contracts "expressly includes statutory claims and is broad enough to encompass a usury violation." *Buckeye*, 824 So. 2d at 231 n.1.

As in *Bess*, no question exists as to Petitioners' assent to the Contracts, and Petitioners failed to challenge the arbitration provisions themselves: "[A]ppellees did not argue that they did not enter into the arbitration agreement, nor did they

challenge the validity of the terms of the arbitration agreement." *Buckeye*, 824 So. 2d at 232. Absent such challenges, Petitioners could not call into question the making of the agreement for arbitration, and thus the court was required to compel arbitration.

II. Party Yards and FastFunding Continue to Fall in Disrepute

Against the weight of authority described above, Petitioners invite this Court to turn its back on the consistent application of the FAA by clinging to two Florida cases – *Party Yards* and *FastFunding The Co., Inc. v. Betts*, 758 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). The flaws in *Party Yards* become readily apparent upon even a casual reading of the case, as courts and commentators have quickly recognized. *See, e.g., Florida Court of Appeals Holds That a Determination of Whether the Contract Complies With State Usury Statutes Must Precede the Reference to Arbitration*, 11 World Arb. & Mediation Rep. 103 (2000) (arguing that the FAA preempts Florida state law as expressed in *Party Yards* and that "[t]he ruling by the Florida appellate court raises questions about whether it complies with the holdings in a number of landmark cases in the federal common law on arbitration law, including *Prima Paint*...").

A. Subsequent Authority Confirms That the *Party Yards*⁵

⁵ FastFunding, which followed Party Yards without analysis, stands on no firmer ground.

Analysis Is Flawed

A review of the authority cited by *Party Yards* reveals that the foundation upon which it was built has since collapsed. For the proposition that "[a] party who alleges and offers colorable evidence that a contract is illegal cannot be compelled to arbitrate the threshold issue of the *existence* of the agreement to arbitrate," the Fifth District relied upon *Three Valleys, Chastain, Camping Const.*Co. v. Dist. Council of Iron Workers, 915 F.2d 1333 (9th Cir. 1990), National R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Boston & Marine Corp., 850 F.2d 756 (D.C. Cir. 1988), and I.S. Joseph Co. v. Michigan Sugar Co., 803 F.2d 396 (8th Cir. 1986). See Party Yards, 751 So. 2d at 123-24. These cases, however, do not support the Fifth District's reasoning.

First, none of those cases specifically dealt with an allegation that the underlying contract was illegal. As a result, these cases are not as informative as ones that have expressly considered the illegality issue, such as *Bess, Burden*, and *Snowden*.

Second, as explained above, any reliance on *Three Valleys*, *Chastain*, or *I.S. Joseph* for the proposition that allegations of a void contract defeat arbitrability conflicts with the subsequent Eleventh Circuit decisions in *Bess* and *Goodman*, as well as the Fourth and Sixth Circuit opinions in *Snowden* and *Burden*. The

Eleventh Circuit explained in detail why *Chastain* could not support the rule advocated by Petitioners, and it similarly distinguished *Three Valleys* and *I.S. Joseph. Bess*, 294 F.3d at 1305-06. While the Fifth District did not have the benefit of these recent decisions at the time it rendered its opinion, this overwhelming authority demonstrates that the *Party Yards* rule cannot stand.

Third, *Party Yards*' reliance on Ninth Circuit decisions overlooks the fact that the Ninth Circuit has ordered the arbitration of matters in contracts claimed to be illegal. In *3H & Assoc., Inc. v. Hanjin Eng. & Constr. Co., Ltd.*, 1998 WL 657722, *2 (9th Cir. Sept. 3, 1998), one party claimed that the underlying "contract was illegal," and thus "arbitration could not be compelled." The Ninth Circuit paid little heed to this argument, holding that it "is incorrect as a matter of law." *Id.*Because no claim existed that the arbitration clause was illegal, the parties were "entitled to have an arbitrator determine whether the contract was illegal." *Id.* (citing *Prima Paint*); *see also Republic of Nicaragua v. Standard Fruit Co.*, 937 F.2d 469, 476 (9th Cir. 1991) (distinguishing *Three Valleys* and reversing district court's decision that there was no contract, and thus no arbitration clause, as violative of *Prima Paint*).

Likewise, the Fifth District's citation to *National R.R.* lends no support to the *Party Yards* rationale because the D.C. Circuit subsequently held that the

district court "erred in treating the arbitration clause as unenforceable merely because the substantive contract provision in dispute between the parties may—if the district court is correct about public policy—be unenforceable." *National R.R.*, 892 F.2d at 1070. The latter *National R.R.* case is more on point than the former, and it again militates against the *Party Yards* rule.

Party Yards, in short, collapses under scrutiny. While selective quotes from the cases it cited may superficially appear to support its rationale, closer inspection of that authority only validates the conclusion of the Fourth District below.

B. Courts Have Refused to Follow *Party Yards* and *FastFunding*

Not surprisingly, the federal courts that have considered *Party Yards* and *FastFunding* have refused to follow them. The Southern District of Indiana expressly rejected *Party Yards* as inconsistent with "[c]ontrolling Supreme Court and Seventh Circuit precedents." *Furgason v. McKenzie Check Advance of Ind.*, 2001 WL 238129, **2, 11 (S.D. Ind. Jan. 3, 2001). Notably, *Furgason*, like *Bess*, *Burden*, and *Snowden*, involved a challenge to a check cashing contract that contained an arbitration clause.

Likewise, the Northern District of Illinois declined to follow the *Party Yards* rule in *Arnold v. Goldstar Fin. Sys., Inc.*, 2002 WL 1941546 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 20, 2002). The court recognized that, "as a matter of federal law," the argument that an

underlying illegal contract precludes arbitration "is a non-starter." *Id.* at *8. While the plaintiffs sought to point to a Florida choice of law clause and cited *FastFunding*, the court found those arguments unavailing: "[T]his court holds that the arbitration provisions in the present contracts are governed by federal, not Florida, law and that plaintiffs' reliance on *FastFunding* is misplaced." *Id.* (citing *Buckeye*).

Florida courts have also refused to follow *Party Yards*. In *Cardegna v. The Check Cashing Store, Inc.*, Case No. CL 00-5099 (15th Judicial Circuit, Palm Beach County June 8, 2001), Judge Wroble compelled arbitration in a case almost identical to the matter at bar. Rejecting *Party Yards*, Judge Wroble instead followed *Furgason*. (S. App. 001-2). The Fourth District affirmed this decision, 813 So. 2d 1056 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), and this Court declined to grant review. 833 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 2002). *See also Reuter v. McKenzie Check Advance of Fla.*, 825 So. 2d 1070 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (affirming based on *Buckeye*).

Judge Wroble is not the only Florida judge to eschew *Party Yards*. In *Harrington v. The Check Cashing Store, Inc.*, Case No. 00-8685-Civ-Ryskamp/Vitunac (S.D. Fla. Aug. 27, 2001) (S. App. 004-018), the Southern District of Florida joined the increasing number of courts that recognize *Party Yards*' incompatibility with *Prima Paint* and its progeny. After surveying the

pertinent authority, the court concluded that "the overwhelming majority of opinions by the United States Supreme Court and other federal courts state that if a ground for avoidance or invalidity of a contract is alleged as to the entire agreement, rather than specifically as to the arbitration clause contained in that agreement, the entire matter should be resolved by arbitration." *Id.* at 9 (S. App. 012). As a result, the court held that it "should give *no weight* to the *Party Yards* decision." *Id.* at 10 (emphasis added) (S. App. 013).

III. Petitioners' Extraneous Arguments About Illegality Are Not Properly Before this Court and Are Misguided

In their brief, Petitioners seek to greatly expand the question presented to this Court, suggesting that "it will also be necessary to decide whether Florida Statute Chapter 560 authorized 'payday loans' or 'deferred deposit transactions' prior to the effective date of F.S. § 560.401-408. . ." (Pet. Br. at 3). By placing these issues at the forefront of their brief, Petitioners attempt to evade the teaching of *Prima Paint*, *Bess*, and the Fourth District that an arbitrator, rather than a judge, makes the illegality determination. This is little more than a thinly-veiled attempt to moot the issue before this Court—the issue, of course, for which Petitioners sought review. (*See* Pet. Br. at 22: claiming that their brief "established" that the Contracts are void).

A. Petitioners' Arguments Are Beyond the Scope of the

Conflict

In their jurisdictional brief before this Court, Petitioners framed the issue as "Whether a court may enforce an arbitration provision when the party opposing arbitration alleges and offers colorable evidence that the contract containing the arbitration provision is illegal, usurious, and, consequently, void." (Pl. Jur. Br. at 1). Petitioners asserted that this Court had jurisdiction because the Fourth and Fifth District "opinions expressly and directly conflict on the same question of law." (*Id.* at 4). Having secured jurisdiction, however, Petitioners now attempt to present questions for this Court's resolution *that were never decided by the lower tribunals*. Such efforts run afoul not only of this Court's precedent, but also of basic tenets of appellate review.

This Court has repeatedly refused to consider matters beyond the scope of its jurisdictional grant.⁶ *See*, *e.g.*, *Cargle v. State*, 770 So. 2d 1151, 1155 n.3 (Fla. 2000) ("We decline to address Cargle's second claim because it was not the basis for our conflict jurisdiction in this case and was not addressed by the district court below."); *Asbell v. State*, 715 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 1998) ("We also decline to review

⁶ Perhaps anticipating this objection, Petitioners suggest that the Court can "at its discretion, consider any issue affecting the case." (Pet. Br. at 3). If the Court were ultimately to conclude that a court must decide whether the Contracts are illegal, however, due process would require a remand for further proceedings on that point in order to allow Buckeye an opportunity to present its defense on the merits.

petitioner's second point on review as it is beyond the scope of the conflict issue."); Weygant v. Fort Meyers Lincoln Mercury, Inc., 640 So. 2d 1092, 1094 n.3 (Fla. 1994) ("This issue was not the basis for our jurisdiction, nor was it discussed in the district court's opinion; we therefore decline to address it now."); Pastor v. State, 521 So. 2d 1079, 1080 (Fla. 1988) ("[W]e decline to review that decision beyond the scope of the certified question."). When coupled with the established rule that appellate courts "should not ordinarily decide issues not ruled on by the trial court in the first instance," Akers v. City of Miami Beach, 745 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), these cases counsel against resolving the new issues raised by Petitioners.

First, to those unfamiliar with the proceedings below, Petitioners' brief leaves the impression that the trial judge conducted a trial on the illegality issue and ruled in Petitioners' favor. Nothing of the sort occurred. In fact, the trial judge repeatedly emphasized that he needed to conduct an evidentiary hearing in order to determine whether even a *colorable* basis for illegality existed: "*Party Yards* says that I've got to make a determination as to whether this contract is illegal or not. I'm not sure we can do that in one day either. I think we're going to have a full-blown evidentiary hearing on that." (App. 158; emphasis added); *see also id.* at 167 ("I think *Party Yards* is applicable. But then, Gentlemen, I've got to have the

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